# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CIVIL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2008-TS-00987** 

# PAULA LEE VAUGHN, APPELLANT

VS.

# MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER, APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bill Waller, Sr.
MSB No.:
Waller & Waller, Attorneys
Post Office Box 4
220 South President Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
(601) 354-5252
Attorney for the Appellant

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

CIVIL CAUSE NO.: 2008-TS-00987	
PAULA LEE VAUGHN,	
APPELLANT	
VS.	
MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER, APPELLEE

### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. It was error for the lower court to grant summary judgment and determine that there was no genuine issue of material fact with regard to the proximate cause of Paula Lee Vaughn's infection, including that there was no infection in Paula Lee Vaughn's legs proximately resulting from any acts or omissions of Mississippi Baptist Medical Center.
- 2. It was Error for the Lower Court to Grant Summary Judgment in its Entirety as Keller is Qualified to Testify as to the Nursing Standard of Care and Breach Thereof.
- 3. It was error for the lower court to grant Mississippi Baptist Medical Center's Motion to Strike Crystal Bear Keller, R.N. as an expert witness and determine that she was not qualified to offer expert medical testimony regarding medical diagnosis and causation on the subject case. The claim is for damages arising from negligent "nursing care" and witness Keller is well qualified to present the "nursing standard of care."
- 4. It was error for the lower court to deny Paula Lee Vaughn's Motion to Amend Rulings of the Court.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause of action arose out of the negligence of the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center. When the original Complaint was filed, Paula Lee Vaughn filed suit against Mississippi Baptist Medical Center and Brandon Nursing and Rehabilitation Center for medical negligence in Hinds County Circuit Court. (R.5, R.E.30). Vaughn settled with Brandon Nursing and Rehabilitation Center and they were dismissed from the suit. (R. 143). The lower court granted Mississippi Baptist Medical Center's Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Crystal Bear Keller, R.N. on May 28, 2008, and thereby ruling that Plaintiff did not have an expert. The summary judgment was also based on testimony there was no infection in the Plaintiff's legs. (R. 719, 721, R.E. 8, 10). The lower court denied Vaughn's Motion to Amend Rulings of the Court on May 28, 2008. (R. 720, R.E. 9). The lower court entered a Final Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice on May 28, 2008. (R. 722, R.E. 11). It is from these orders that the Plaintiff appeals. (R. 723).

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a case concerning nursing negligence and breach of the nursing standards of care.

Paula Vaughn was admitted to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center on October 24, 2005 for bypass surgery, mitral valve repair and tricuspid repair. While a patient at the Baptist Hospital she acquired a staph infection in her bilateral leg wounds as a result of nursing negligence which required multiple hospitalizations and additional expenses. Prior to her hospitalization in October 2005, Vaughn was a reasonably healthy female. She had diabetes and eye problems, but those conditions did not prevent Vaughn from living a normal life. Approximately six (6) months prior to her surgery in October 2005, she began to feel the symptoms of heart problems for which she was referred to the Baptist Hospital for surgery. Vaughn's adult children have all testified in their depositions that Vaughn led a normal and active lifestyle prior to her admission to Baptist Hospital on October 24, 2005 and that since that time, she has been forced to do only limited sedentary activities which caused her a substantial loss of quality of life. (R. 601, 602-603, 607, 630-631; R.E.148, 149-150, 154, 177-178).

Vaughn charges the Baptist Hospital with negligence in their nursing care and treatment of her. Specifically, the nursing staff at Baptist Hospital was negligent and did not follow the standard of care in their care and treatment of the Vaughn's surgical wounds on both legs. These wounds are on the inside groin area measuring a couple of inches in length. Her wounds were highly visible and she complained of extreme pain. The wounds were distended from the swelling, discolored in red and blue shades and discharging purulent material constantly.

Vaughn was admitted and discharged to and from the Defendant Hospital from October 24, 2005-November 2, 2005; November 7, 2005-November 21, 2005; and December 5, 2005-December

9, 2005, during which intervals Vaughn was totally dependent upon Baptist Hospital's nursing staff, employees and agents for all activities of daily living, including but not limited to, mobility, posturing, nutrition, medications and personal hygiene. It is contended that during the course of the Vaughn's hospital stay from October 24, 2005-November 2, 2005, she developed acute infection in her leg wounds from defectation and urination because she was unable to ambulate and get herself to the bathroom which forced the continued contamination of her wounds. This event caused her leg wound to become saturated with the waste material, and such contamination remained on her leg for approximately 3.5 hours before a nurse came to clean and sanitize the wounds. Shortly thereafter, these surgical wounds became acutely infected, becoming red in color, swollen, feverish and very painful. The negligence accounted for by her adult children was the failure of the nursing staff to take single hygienic steps to prevent the contamination and to cleanse the wounds once contaminated. (R. 185).

After Vaughn's leg drains and Foley catheter were discontinued she developed severe generalized edema with weeping. Vaughn also developed large amounts of serosanguinous drainage in her bilateral leg wounds which increased each time she got up out of bed saturating her dressings. Vaughn's leg wounds continued to discharge material, increased swelling, increased feverishness and increased blue and red discoloration. Vaughn's leg wounds continued to worsen developing creamy, yellow pus and discoloration. The nursing staff failed to notify a physician and a culture was not taken timely. The nursing care negligence was compounded repeatedly when Vaughn's leg wounds continued to worsen developing large amounts of drainage along with a hematoma to the back of her lower left thigh and neither supervising nor treating physicians were notified. Other regular treatment standards were violated such as having a consultant examine Vaughn and study

test results depicting the type and grade of infection so as to prescribe the appropriate antibiotic and other treatment modalities. Vaughn's leg wounds still continued to worsen with drainage to her inner thighs and her wounds were bleeding, bruised and yellow and a physician was still not notified. Documentation in the medical records reveals that the nursing staff failed to perform dressing changes as ordered on numerous occasions. She was discharged from the Baptist Hospital on November 2, 2005. (R. 188-189, R.E. 35-36).

The standard of care and the repeated violation of the standards was thoroughly and meticulously documented by Vaughn's well qualified expert witness who gave an affidavit which was of record when the summary judgment was granted. (R. 565, 662; R.E. 112, 207).

On November 7, 2005 Vaughn was readmitted to the Baptist Hospital, to be treated for symptoms of heart failure and renal failure, however, she was advised that she did not have heart failure, but that she did have acute and advanced infection in her legs and that the infection should be treated intensively. Vaughn underwent surgical debridement of the wounds which were noted to be very deep. Dressing changes were ordered every shift. However, documentation in the medical records reveals that the nursing staff failed to perform dressing changes as ordered on numerous occasions, preventing a timely cure and treatment of the infection. Vaughn was again discharged even though the condition of her wounds had not substantially improved with swelling and heavy draining continuing. The outward sign of the gross infection were unabated. (R. 189, R.E.36).

On November 21, 2005, through referral by the Baptist Hospital, Vaughn was admitted and transferred to a health care facility located in Rankin County, Mississippi. The Baptist Hospital failed to adequately inform the transferring facility of proper treatment instructions regarding Vaughn's acute symptoms including her acute infection, including the existence of a staph infection, and the

to protect and treat her leg wounds, as well as problems related to her ambulation and her ability to take care of herself based upon her recovering from major surgery and as related to the disturbance of her bodily functions from the anesthetic and other drugs given her during the course of her surgery and recovery. It was gross and wanton negligence to prematurely discharge or transfer Vaughn from its' institution which proximately caused and contributed to the extent of the infection and directly and indirectly caused the Vaughn to suffer a serious and permanent injuries, including her to vital bodily functions. In addition to her physical injuries and related pain and suffering, Vaughn suffered emotional injuries, resulting in a severe stress disorder arising from the failure of Baptist Hospital to provide her reasonable and standard medical care. (R. 190, R.E. 37).

On December 5, 2005, Vaughn was readmitted to the Baptist Hospital, where additional diagnostic blood work established the fact that her kidney functions were normal, and that her blood count was very high, indicating severe infections. The wound vac instrument was re-established, and she was given two (2) units of blood due to her low blood count. (R. 186, R.E. 33).

She remained in the Baptist Hospital until December 9, 2005, when she was transferred to Restorative Care, remaining there until her discharge. While in Restorative Care she was placed back on an antibiotic for the staphylococcus infection in her wounds which infection originated while a patient in Baptist Hospital. Vaughn's leg wounds continued to require further treatment and continued to be infected because of improper care, by failing to report the infection, failing to document the infection, failing to document changes in her condition, failing to properly clean the leg wounds, failing to request consultation, failing to follow physician's orders, failing to conduct dressing changes and all other charges made in Vaughn's Complaint. Baptist Hospital had a duty to ensure that Vaughn's bilateral leg wounds were taken care of properly and that they had healed

prior to her discharge. Baptist Hospital discharged Vaughn on multiple occasions while her wounds were still saturated with infection, requiring a wound vac, and antibiotics. Vaughn should not have been discharged. Vaughn developed a duodenal ulcer, duodenitis, gastritis and stricture of the gastroesophageal junction. After her discharge from Baptist on December 29, 2005, she has continued to suffer diarrhea, nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain. Dr. Kessler is of the opinion that Vaughn's gastrointestinal complications resulted from the dosages of antibiotics used to treat Vaughn's staph and other infections while a patient at the Baptist Hospital. (R.415, R. 629, R.E. 66,176).

The nursing staff of Baptist Hospital is charged with other acts of negligence as are more fully outlined within the Argument of the Brief.

### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial judge struck the expert witnesses testimony and used that ruling as a basis for granting summary judgment.

If an anatomical defect exists while a patient is hospitalized such as open and obvious infection in leg wounds which were not treated properly after repeated admissions, causation of the infected leg wounds yields to the negligence of the hospital in failing to determine the cause, however, the claim is about the cure and the evidence is overwhelming that the required treatment by the nursing staff was violated- - repeatedly.

Crystal Keller is qualified to testify not only to the deviations in the standard of care by the nursing staff of Baptist Hospital, but also to testify as to the infection and the lack of care and treatment of Vaughn's leg wounds.

The signs of the infection were open and obvious to laymen such as the Plaintiff's adult children. Additionally, the Plaintiff's adult children witnessed the deviations in the standard of care of the nursing staff of Baptist Hospital in their care and treatment of the Plaintiff generally. Where the negligence is within the common knowledge of a layperson, expert testimony is not needed to establish negligence. *Dailey v. Methodist Med. Ctr.*, 790 So.2d 903, 918 ¶ 23 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

Crystal Keller because she is qualified to give opinions regarding nursing standards of care from outset of infection forward and to nursing care generally. Keller should still be allowed to testify concerning the appropriate standard of nursing care and the deviations from that standard. The lower court was overly restrictive concerning Keller's testimony.

Crystal Keller is qualified as an expert witness to render testimony concerning the deviations

in the standard of nursing care and it was error for the lower court to strike her testimony.

Since the lower court struck Vaughn's expert and granted summary judgment because the court ruled that Vaughn's expert was not qualified to render expert testimony, then Vaughn should have been allowed time within which to offer the opinion from another expert witness.

Summary judgment was inappropriately granted and the Court should reverse the decision of the lower court.

# V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The main issue which will effect medical negligence practice in the future is the scope or limitation of the opinions of an expert witness nurse. To a large extent, a physician's care and diagnosis depends upon the record given him by the nursing staff which is in constant attendance whereas the physician's hands on attention is quite brief and intermittent. This points up the importance of proving nurses are meeting or not meeting the standard of "nursing care."

Oral argument will be helpful to the Court in fixing rules pertaining to the scope or limitations to be placed upon the opinions that may be given in the future by nurse experts.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

1. It was error for the lower court to grant summary judgment and determine that there was no genuine issue of material fact with regard to the proximate cause of Paula Lee Vaughn's infection, including that there was no infection in Paula Lee Vaughn's legs proximately resulting from any acts or omissions of Mississippi Baptist Medical Center.

Baptist filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 14, 2008 alleging that Vaughn had not presented expert medical testimony establishing the applicable standard of care, breach of that standard and that such breach proximately caused Plaintiff's alleged injuries. (R.479, 480; R.E.26, 27).

Vaughn designated Crystal Keller, R.N. to testify with regard to the nursing negligence at issue. (R. 406). Her qualifications are outlines herein below.

Baptist contended in its Motion for Summary Judgment that Crystal Keller was not qualified to testify regarding medical causation and she was not qualified to give testimony as to causal link between nursing care and infection. (R.480, R.E.27). However, the infection arose from intervention and Vaughn claims defective treatment of the infection.

Baptist further contended in its Motion for Summary Judgment that Vaughn provided no proof that the alleged negligence of the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center proximately caused Vaughn's legs wounds to become infected. (R.480, R.E.27).

Vaughn charged that the nursing staff at Baptist was negligent and did not follow the standard of care in their care and treatment of her as a whole and her surgical wounds on both legs. Crystal Keller has established the applicable standard of care for nurses and the breach of that standard by the nursing staff at Baptist. Summary judgment was inappropriately granted. Keller's testimony and the medical records along with the testimony of the Plaintiff and her adult children

create numerous genuine issues of material facts.

The standard of care and breach thereof goes far beyond the first admission to Baptist Hospital. She was admitted three times for treatment of her bilateral leg wounds. Baptist did not render the appropriate treatment in accordance with the standard of care for her wounds. Bedside attention from family members confirmed gross negligence in failing to cleanse and change the dressings on her wounds and bandages soaked with feces and urine.

Even if there was no infection during the first admission, which Vaughn contends is false, Baptist was obligated to administer care and treatment of the infected wounds on the second and third admissions so as to minimize and/or cure the infection and ensuing complications, all of which they failed to do.

Baptist's experts are of the opinion that Vaughn's underlying health conditions were the proximate cause of the infections in the leg wounds and that there was no deviation from the standards of care by the nursing staff and other personnel at Baptist Hospital. However, this theory fails. Baptist's staff should have been aware of Vaughn's underlying health conditions and the associated risks therewith. By so knowing, Baptist was under a duty to watch Vaughn carefully for this type of infection injury, and yet Baptist did not attempt to prevent it. Regardless of other health conditions of Vaughn, Baptist was under a duty to prevent this type of infection injury to the Vaughn. Secondly, and thereafter, they were obligated to administer care and treatment of the infected wounds so as to minimize and/or cure the infection and ensuing complications, all of which they failed to do.

The problem as well as the cure was caused by negligent nursing care which was not observed by the nurses or reported to the physician. Plaintiff's expert opined as to the nurses duty

to record acute infection and to report such to the physician.

The circumstantial evidence in this case is overwhelming. If she did not have an infection or a condition that needed treatment, then why was she continuously being admitted to the hospital.

# A. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment.

When reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment, the Court applies a de novo standard of review. *Busby v. Mazzeo*, 929 So.2d 369, 372 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Summary judgment is proper where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(c). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should be entered. Otherwise, it should be denied. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (¶9) (Miss. 2002).

"Summary judgment is not a substitute for trial regarding disputed issues of fact." *Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Assoc.*, 656 So.2d 790, 795 (Miss. 1995).

# B. Crystal Keller is qualified to render an opinion as to Infection and Causation of Infection.

The only evidence rebutting the competency of Plaintiff's expert was a medical doctor working with the Defendant who should not be relied upon in determining whether the nursing staff at Baptist Hospital followed the standard of care in their treatment and care of Vaughn. Clearly, a nursing expert is more qualified to testify as to the standards of nursing care. As pointed out, the doctor did not remove dressings to examine the wounds. Therefore, he cannot have knowledge of

the appearance or condition of the wounds.

i

Contrary to Baptist's experts assertions, Vaughn developed an infection in her leg wounds during her first hospitalization at Baptist Hospital from October 24, 2005 to November 2, 2005 as is obvious by Vaughn's medical records and the below cited testimony from lay witnesses and Vaughn's expert nurse.

Notwithstanding the causation factor, there was an infection and she had all of the signs of an infection regardless of Dr. McMullen's testimony. Defendant cited to Dr. McMullen's testimony that there was no sign of infection during Vaughn's first admission to Baptist. However, there is ample evidence to the contrary.

Sherry Blaine testified in her deposition that Dr. McMullen told her that her mother's leg wounds were infected. (R. 592, R.E. 139). Dr. McMullen testified that layman are accustomed to seeing pus as well as nurses. (R.666-667, R.E.211-212).

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