IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PAULA LEE VAUGHN

APPELLANT

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2008-TS-00987

MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUIRED

EUGENE R. NAYLOR (
GAYE NELL CURRIE (I
WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY
600 HERITAGE BUILDING
401 EAST CAPITOL STREET
POST OFFICE BOX 651
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0651
TELEPHONE: (601)968-5500

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE, MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PAULA LEE VAUGHN

APPELLANT

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2008-TS-00987

MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Substantive law defines the essential elements of a claim and identifies which facts are truly material for purposes of summary judgment. Mallery v. Taylor, 805 So. 2d 613 (Miss. App. 2002). In a medical malpractice action, the plaintiff bears the burden of proof at trial and, the burden of production on summary judgment. Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995). In order to establish a prima facie case of medical negligence, a plaintiff must present competent expert testimony as to the applicable standard of care, breach, and proximate causation. Phillips v. Hull, 516 So.2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987). Mississippi case law is very specific in the requirement that a plaintiff must present qualified expert medical testimony to establish each of the elements of prima facie case of medical malpractice. Coleman v. Rice, 706 So. 2d. 696, 698 (Miss. 1997). Vaughn failed to meet her burden of production in opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and she failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as concerns the onset of an infection and/or medical causation between alleged negligence and injuries or damages claimed. Vaughn presented no qualified, medical expert to give testimony that any alleged breach of the standard of care by the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center caused or contributed to Vaughn's claimed injuries or damages. The only qualified medical experts in this cause have attested that Vaughn was not suffering from any infection in her surgical wound sites at the time her physician, Dr. McMullan, discharged her from Mississippi Baptist Medical Center on November 2, 2006, and that no alleged negligence on the part of the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center caused or contributed to any alleged injury to Vaughn. Without such testimony to prove proximate causation, Vaughn's claim failed as a matter of law. Therefore, the trial court correctly held summary judgment was appropriate.

On appeal, Vaughn asks this Court for relief in three (3) alternate ways. Vaughn first asks the Court to allow the opinion of her nursing expert, Crystal Keller, on medial causation despite this Court's prior rejection of such a profer by Keller in a prior case. In the alternative, Vaughn asks the Court to find that the medical diagnosis of an infection is a matter within the province of lay persons, and to therefore accept conclusory assertions of Vaughn's children that an infection was present and as to what caused the infection. Failing in these requests, and despite having elected not to designate or profer physician testimony to the trial court, Vaughn asks this Court for another bite of the apple, and to remand this case so that she can hopefully develop requisite medical testimony. Vaughn had her day in Court and Mississippi Baptist Medical Center should not be subjected to unending litigation at Vaughn's whim. The ruling of the trial court and dismissal with prejudice should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court uses a *de novo* standard of review when passing on questions of law including summary judgment. Ellis v. Anderson Tully Co., 727 So. 2d 716, 718 (¶14)(Miss. 1998). Where the moving party establishes the Plaintiff's inability to meet any one of the essential elements of her claim, "all other contested issues of fact are rendered immaterial." Williams v. Bennett, 921 So. 2d 1269, 1272 (Miss. 2006) (*citing* Celotex Corp. v. Caterett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986)). Likewise, where a non-moving party who bears the burden of proof at trial fails to present credible evidence

to support any single essential element of her claim, other issues become immaterial and the movant is then entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Crain v. Cleveland Moose Lodge 1532, 641 So. 2d 1186,1188 (Miss. 1994). Furthermore, this Court will not overturn on appeal the trial court's decision "unless [it is] manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Stanton v. Delta Regional Medical Center, 802 So. 2d 142, 145 (Miss. 2001). In this case, as Vaughn presented no competent, qualified medical expert to establish an essential element of her medical malpractice claim - the element of causation - the trial court correctly applied the appropriate legal standard and summary judgment was granted.

II. Summary Judgment Was Appropriately Granted As Vaughn Failed to Present Evidence to Establish an Essential Element of Her Claim.

Vaughn asserted a medical negligence claim against Mississippi Baptist Medical Center claiming that its nursing staff was negligent in their care and treatment of Paula Vaughn during her admission to the hospital between October 24, 2005 and November 2, 2005, and that such negligence caused or contributed to the development of an infection in Vaughn's surgical wound sites. To prove such allegations, Vaughn must have presented competent, qualified medical expert testimony not only to the alleged breaches of the standard of care by the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, but also that such alleged breaches proximately caused or contributed to the claimed injury. Vaughn presented no competent, qualified medical expert to give any opinions regarding causation, and significantly, her own treating physician testified, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Vaughn had no infection in her wound sites or elsewhere during her initial admission to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center. R. 683; R.E. 93. The Montford-Jones Hospital

¹Vaughn contends in her Brief on Appeal "that during the course of Vaughn's hospital stay from October 24, 2005-November 2, 2005, she developed an acute infection in her leg wounds from defecation and urination." Appellant's Brief at p. IV.

records also confirm the absence of infection upon transfer from Mississippi Baptist Medical Center.

R. 686-87; R.E. 96-97.

The only expert offered by Vaughn to support her claim was Crystal Keller: a nurse who this court has previously pronounced is not, as a matter of law, qualified to make a medical diagnosis or to give opinions regarding medical causation. Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc., 807 So.2d 1244 (Miss. 2002). Nonetheless, Vaughn proferred this nurse, asking the trial court, and now this Court, to substitute her opinions for those of Vaughn's treating physician. The trial court properly recognized that Nurse Keller was not qualified to give opinions regarding medical diagnoses and causation, and appropriately granted summary judgment to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center as no genuine issue of material fact was present with regard to an essential element of Vaughn's claim. R. 727; R.E. 120.

A. Nurse Kellar Is Not Qualified to Make a Medical Diagnosis.

Vaughn alleges that during her initial admission to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center from October 24, 2005 through November 2, 2005, improper nursing care caused her to develop infections in her surgical wound sites. Such claim, however, presupposes that infections were present in the wound sites at that time. To the contrary, Vaughn's treating physician testified that no infections were present in Vaughn's wounds at that time. R. 683; R.E. 93. Nonetheless, Vaughn's expert, Nurse Keller, in direct contravention to the diagnosis made by Vaughn's treating physician, and acting outside the scope of her license and authority, seeks to offer a medical diagnosis of Vaughn

²Upon Vaughn's <u>second</u> admission to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, she did have an infection to her left surgical wound site. However, this infection manifested at a time and place other than Mississippi Baptist Medical Center and was not the result of contamination of the wounds with feces and urine, but was the result of naturally occurring bacteria found on the skin of all individuals. *See infra*, Section B; R.689-90, R.E. 99-100.

as having an infection in her wound sites. Nurse Keller is, however, not only unqualified to make such a medical diagnosis or to speak to issues of medical causation, she is prohibited from doing so by law. § 73-15-5, Miss. Code Ann. (Rev. 2008); <u>Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg</u>, Inc., 807 So.2d 1244 (Miss. 2002).

Section 73-15-5(2), provides:

The "practice of nursing" by a registered nurse means the performance for compensation of services which require substantial knowledge of the biological, physical, behavioral, psychological and sociological sciences and of nursing theory as the basis for assessment, diagnosis, planning, intervention and evaluation in the promotion and maintenance of health; management of individuals' responses to illness, injury or infirmity; the restoration of optimum function; or the achievement of a dignified death. "Nursing practice" includes, but is not limited to, administration, teaching, counseling, delegation and supervision of nursing, and execution of the medical regimen, including the administration of medications and treatments prescribed by any licensed or legally authorized physician or dentist. The foregoing shall not be deemed to include acts of medical diagnosis or prescriptions of medical, therapeutic or corrective measures. . . .

Miss. Code Ann. (Rev. 2008)(emphasis added). The Mississippi Legislature has specifically confined nursing practice to those areas of the medical regimen <u>not to include</u> the making of a medical diagnosis. Nonetheless, Nurse Keller is doing just that - attempting to offer a medical diagnosis of an infection in Vaughn's wound sites during Vaughn's initial admission to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center.

To support her position, Vaughn mistakenly, and short-sightedly, relies upon the first sentence of statute for support of her assertion that nurses indeed may make medical diagnoses. However, the first sentence of the statutory section refers to a "nursing diagnosis." A nursing

³Nursing diagnosis is defined as "[t]he patient problem identified by the nurse for nursing intervention." TABOR'S CYCOLPEDIC MEDICAL DICTIONARY, 19th Ed. 2001.

diagnosis is not the same as a medical diagnosis and is no substitute for requisite proof on medical/legal causation. Nurses may make assessments and diagnose a patient's problem from a nursing perspective, i.e. what nursing care needs to be implemented. They cannot, however, diagnose a medical condition or prescribe medical, therapeutic or corrective measures. §73–15-5(2), Miss. Code Ann. (Rev. 2008). The limiting language of the second sentence of the statute, which Vaughn omits, specifically prohibits nursing practice from involving the act of making medical diagnoses. §73-15-5(2), Miss. Code Ann. (1972). Furthermore, not only is Nurse Keller prohibited by law from making such a medical diagnosis, her diagnosis is not based upon medical facts and is simply incorrect.

Dr. Martin McMullan, Vaughn's treating physician, testified under oath that no infection was present in Vaughn's surgical wound sites during her initial hospitalization at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center. Specifically, Dr. McMullan, stated as follows:

- Q. Was there any indication to you that Ms. Vaughn had any infection inside her incisions?
- A. No. The incisions were healing quite appropriately.

* * *

- Q. If, Dr. McMullan, you had seen any sign or symptom of infection, would you have noted that here in the record?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And based upon your personal observation of Ms. Vaughn's leg and chest incisions and the reporting you received from personnel, did you feel adequately informed about her condition and (sic) postoperatively?
- A. Yes.

* * *

- Q. If a nurse notes the presence of serosanguineous fluid, is that any indication of an infection in a wound site?
- A. No.

* * *

- Q. In your opinion, did Ms. Vaughn have an infection at either of her wound sites?
- A. No. In my opinion, she had no evidence of infection at this point in time.

* * *

- Q. Based upon your observations, your care and treatment, the information you obtained at Baptist Hospital, did Ms. Vaughn have any evidence or signs and symptoms of an infection at the time of discharge?
- A. Not at this time.
- Q. If Ms. Vaughn had, in your medical opinion, had signs and symptoms of an infection, would you have discharged her?
- A. No.

R. 674, 683-685; R.E. 84, 93-95. Without a doubt, Dr. McMullan testified that Vaughn had no infection present in her wound sites at the time he discharged her from Mississippi Baptist Medical Center on November 2, 2005, her first hospitalization period. Moreover, Dr. McMullan's medical opinion is substantiated by the medical records from the facility to which Ms. Vaughn was transferred. R. 686; R.E. 96.

The medical records from Montfort Jones Memorial Hospital confirm that at the time Vaughn was transferred to that facility from Mississippi Baptist Medical Center on November 2, 2005, she was not suffering from any infection. R. 686; R.E. 96. Upon admission to Montfort

⁴Dr. McMullan testified, and it is undisputed that seroganguineous fluid (blood-tinted) is not the result of infection. R. 685; R.E. 95. Nurse Keller offers such an opinion in opposition to established medical fact.

Jones, the staff assessed Vaughn's condition and noted in the record that there was no infection present. R. 686; R.E.96. The absence of infection is not noted merely once, but is indicated in two separate portions of the record. R. 686; R.E. 96. Furthermore, the narrative nursing notes indicate on November 2, 2005, that Vaughn's "incision areas [are] pink [and] healing." R. 687, R.E. 97. Nonetheless, Vaughn asks this Court to ignore the testimony of her treating physician and the undisputed facts in medical records, and to accept Nurse Keller's unqualified "opinion." Nurse Keller's erroneous substitution of her opinions for those of Vaughn's treating physician is not only contrary to the law of this State and medically incorrect, but is a tactic of Nurse Keller which has previously been rejected by this Court. Richardson, 807 So. 2d 1244, 1248 (Miss. 2002) (holding Nurse Keller is not competent to give opinions regarding medical diagnoses and causation). The trial court properly struck Nurse Keller's opinions regarding her medical diagnosis of infection and entered summary judgment herein. R. 725; R.E. 119.

B. Nurse Keller Is Not Qualified to Speak to Medical Causation.

Not only do Vaughn and Nurse Keller take the position that Nurse Keller is qualified to make a medical diagnosis of an infection, an infection which did not exist, they further take the position that she is qualified to speak to medical causation, i.e. the cause of a fictional infection. Specifically, they assert that Nurse Keller may opine that alleged negligence of the nursing staff at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center during Vaughn's initial hospitalization caused Vaughn to develop an infection in her wound sites. However, as a matter of law, Nurse Keller is not qualified to speak to the issue of medical causation. Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc., 807 So.2d 1244 (Miss. 2002). In fact, this Honorable Court has so stated to Nurse Keller and Vaughn's

counsel herein.8 Id.

In <u>Richardson</u>, a wrongful death action, Nurse Keller attempted to give opinions regarding the cause of death of patient. 807 So. 2d at. 1245. Nurse Keller opined therein that the alleged negligence of the nursing staff caused or contributed to the patient's death. Rejecting Nurse Keller as a qualified expert on causation, this Court held Nurse Keller "would not be allowed to render medical opinions as to the multiple medical diseases and/or conditions suffered by the Plaintiff during this lengthy hospitalization . . . or the cause of these conditions and/or the cause of her death." <u>Id.</u> at 1248 (emphasis added). Nonetheless, despite this admonishment, Nurse Keller is once again attempting to give opinions regarding medical conditions and causation, i.e. that Vaughn's wound sites were infected and that the cause of the infection was the negligence of the nursing staff in allowing the wounds to be contaminated with feces and urine. Opinions which are unsupported by the medical records herein and the testimony of Vaughn's treating physician who observed and cared for her during the pertinent times at issue.⁹

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